
 

 

When telephoning, please ask for: Helen Tambini 
Direct dial  0115 914 8320 
Email  democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 
Our reference:  
Your reference: 
Date: Thursday, 28 March 2024 

 
 
To all Members of the Cabinet 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
A Meeting of the Cabinet will be held on Tuesday, 9 April 2024 at 7.00 pm in the 
Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West Bridgford to consider 
the following items of business. 
 
This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on  
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC 
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be  
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home  
page until you see the video appear. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Gemma Dennis 
Monitoring Officer   
 

AGENDA 

 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

 Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution 
 

3.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 March 2024 (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

4.   Citizens' Questions  
 

 To answer questions submitted by citizens on the Council or its 
services. 
 

5.   Opposition Group Leaders' Questions  
 

 To answer questions submitted by Opposition Group Leaders on 
items on the agenda. 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct


 

 

 NON-KEY DECISIONS 
 

6.   LGA Corporate Peer Challenge (Pages 5 - 44) 
 

 The report of the Chief Executive is attached. 
 

7.   Bingham Car Parking Project Update (Pages 45 - 56) 
 

 The report of the Director – Neighbourhoods is attached. 
 

Membership  
 
Chair: Councillor N Clarke  
Vice-Chair: Councillor A Brennan  
Councillors: R Inglis, R Upton, D Virdi and J Wheeler 
 

Meeting Room Guidance 

 
Fire Alarm Evacuation:  In the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the 
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber.  You 
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the 
building. 
 
Toilets: Are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first 
floor. 
 
Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is 
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.   
 
Microphones:  When you are invited to speak please press the button on your 
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem.  Please ensure that you switch 
this off after you have spoken.   
 

Recording at Meetings 

 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.  
 
Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its 
decision making.  As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings 
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be 
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt 
 
 



 

 

 
 

MINUTES 
OF THE MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 
TUESDAY, 12 MARCH 2024 

Held at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena,  
Rugby Road, West Bridgford 

and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel 
 

PRESENT: 
 Councillors N Clarke (Chair), A Brennan (Vice-Chair), R Inglis, R Upton, D Virdi 

and J Wheeler 
 
 ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

Councillor J Walker   
 
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 D Banks Director of Neighbourhoods 
 G Dennis Monitoring Officer 
 K Marriott Chief Executive 
 H Tambini Democratic Services Manager 
 S Whittaker Service Manager - Finance 

 
53 Declarations of Interest 

 
 There were no declarations of interest made. 

 
54 Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 February 2024 

 
 The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 13 February 2024 were agreed 

as a true record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

55 Citizens' Questions 
 

 There were no citizens’ questions. 
 

56 Opposition Group Leaders' Questions 
 

 Question from Councillor J Walker to Councillor Brennan. 
 
“How will this Council use the Business Rates Pool surplus to engage, support 
and then monitor the impact of the investment to the larger than national 
average number, of Micro businesses in the Borough? 
 
Councillor Brennan confirmed that Micro businesses were a key part of the 
Borough’s economy, although in terms of Business Rates they only generated 
about 0.3% of the Council’s income. She stated that a good business mix was 
vital and that would be reflected in the Council’s first Economic Growth 
Strategy due to be published later this year. Micro businesses were very 
important and a valued contributor to the wealth and job creation within the 
Borough. Councillor Brennan advised that the Business Rates Pool surplus 

page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

was not used directly to support Micro businesses; however, there were a 
range of other budgets and initiatives designed to benefit this important sector, 
which in turn supported the skills and supply chain required to benefit major 
growth sites and opportunities across the Borough.  Councillor Brennan stated 
that there were a number of teams in the Council, which supported businesses, 
various grant schemes, and that the Council serviced and supported the 
Rushcliffe Business Partnership, with over 1,500 members, who were mainly 
Micro businesses, which delivered various networking and engagement events. 
Councillor Brennan went onto list the considerable support provided: 
 

• In 2023/24 £170k was allocated through UKSPF/REPF to support 24 
businesses. 

• £116k was allocated to the Rushcliffe Accelerator Business Support 
Programme, which provided one to one business support as well as 
workshops on a range of topics. 

• In 2024/25 £326k was allocated for business grants, £50k of this is for 
High Street Grants, to be launched in April 2024.  

• There was an allocation of £150k to support projects in town centres and 
to support the delivery of some of the outcomes of West Bridgford 
Accessibility Study, as well as recently commissioned retail reviews. 

• £150k was allocated to people and skills activity in 2024/25, with some 
grants available to upskill employees as well as take on interns.  

• The Strategic Growth Board pot supported Ruddington and East Leake 
Markets. 

• The Shop Front Improvement Grant supported around 27 businesses at 
a total of around £58k. 

• There was a temporary High Street Manager role. 

• Social media support for West Bridgford Way. 

• A Bingham voucher book featuring local businesses, which was 
distributed to local residents. 

• The Council’s commercial estate, which mainly housed micro/small 
businesses was now 100% let and provided 111 units. 

• The Council had attracted approximately £2.35m of funding for the 12 
Bingham Arena offices and supported 67 jobs. 

• £1.2m was secured for the 11 Cotgrave Industrial Units.  
 
Councillor Walker thanked Councillor Brennan for her very detailed response 
and asked if there was any data on Micro businesses and how was it used? 
 
Councillor Brennan stated that considerable research was undertaken by both 
the Council’s Economic Growth Team and working with the LEP.  She went on 
to say that given their scale, Micro businesses could be difficult to identify as 
they often did not engage, and work was being undertaken with the Rushcliffe 
Business Partnership to try and improve that and the new Economic Growth 
Strategy would need to reflect that Micro businesses made up a significant 
proportion of vibrant businesses in the Borough and to use that to try and draw 
in further investment.    
 
 
 
 

page 2



 

 

57 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 2023/24 - Financial Update 
Quarter 3 
 

 The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance, Transformation and Governance, 
Councillor Virdi presented the report of the Director – Finance and Corporate 
Services, which set out the budget position for revenue and capital as at 31 
December 2023.   
 
Councillor Virdi stated that given the various financial challenges, which the 
Council continued to face, the overall position was positive.  Cabinet was 
reminded that wider economic risks still prevailed, and whilst the position 
remained fragile, it was noted that the report had been considered by the 
Corporate Overview Group, with no significant issues arising. 
 
In respect of revenue, Councillor Virdi confirmed that there was an overall 
revenue budget efficiency of £0.665m, which was largely due to a Business 
Rates Pool surplus, as detailed in Appendix A to the report.  Cabinet noted that 
there were both adverse and positive variances, which were highlighted in 
Paragraph 4.3 of the report.  Councillor Virdi reminded Cabinet that pay and 
inflationary pressures remained, together with other pressures referred to at 
Council last week, which were detailed in Paragraphs 4.9 and 4.10.   
 
In respect of capital, Councillor Virdi stated that Paragraph 4.7 and Table 2 of 
the report focused on the key variances and carry forwards requested.  There 
was an estimated underspend of £3.880m out of a budget of £12.417m, 
including £7.068m in relation to rephasing of schemes. Councillor Virdi advised 
that there was a remaining £3.450m underspend, which as previously 
discussed was mainly due to timing, and most of the funds were committed, as 
detailed in Paragraph 4.7.  
 
In relation to Special Expenses, Councillor Virdi referred to Paragraph 4.5 and 
Appendix E to the report, which highlighted a slight budget efficiency of £2.3k. 
 
Councillor Virdi concluded by reminding Cabinet that the economic climate 
remained challenging, and it was therefore imperative to keep a tight rein on 
the budget and not be complacent, to ensure that the Council continued to 
have the resources to deliver its Corporate Priorities and excellent value for 
money for residents. 
 
In seconding the recommendation, Councillor J Wheeler stated the importance 
of remaining prudent during such uncertain times.  He stated that in respect of 
variances, it was very hard to predict what would happen throughout the year, 
although it was important to remember that the budget process was thoroughly 
scrutinised. 
 
The Leader referred to the capital underspend and reiterated that this was 
simple a question of timing and the funds would be spent going forward. 
 
It was RESOLVED that the report be approved, and the following be 
noted: 
 
a) the projected revenue budget efficiency for the year of £0.665m and 

page 3



 

 

proposals to transfer to reserves, as referred to in Paragraph 4.1 of the 
report;  

 
b) the projected capital budget efficiencies of £3.880m including carry 

forwards of £0.430m to 2024/25, as referred to in Paragraph 4.7 of the 
report; and 

 
c) the projected outturn position of £2.3k underspend for Special 

Expenses, as referred to in Paragraph 4.5 of the report. 
 

58 Mobile Homes Fees Policy 2024-2029 
 

 The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety, Councillor Inglis 
presented the report of the Director – Neighbourhoods, outlining the Mobile 
Homes Fees Policy 2024-2029.   
 
Councillor Inglis advised that this was an update to the current Policy, which 
would expire this year, and stated that it was a requirement of the Caravan 
Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 to publish a policy when a Council 
intended to recover its costs.  Councillor Inglis advised that licensing ensured 
that Health and Safety standards were met, and any infringement would be 
subject to enforcement, if required.  Cabinet noted that there was an alternative 
not to charge; however, Councillor Inglis felt that in the interests of efficiency, it 
was important to cover costs. 
 
In seconding the recommendation Councillor Upton stated that the Policy 
outlined the work officers did and noted from the report that the fees were to 
remain unchanged this year, but as part of the annual review would be looked 
at again next year.  
 
It was RESOLVED that the revised Mobile Homes Fees Policy 2024-2029 be 
approved. 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.18 pm. 

 
 

CHAIR 

page 4



 

  

 

 

 

 
Cabinet 
 
Tuesday, 9 April 2024 

 
LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 
 

 
Report of the Chief Executive 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide Leadership, 
Councillor N Clarke 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. The Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC) is a part of the Local Government 

Association’s (LGA) sector support programme. It involves senior councillors 
and officers from other authorities acting as peers to review the Council 
providing supportive, but critical challenge to the Council and its work. It aims 
to highlight areas of good practice, as well as identify areas for improvement 
and ongoing support. 
 

1.2. The Council invited the LGA to conduct a CPC, which took place 15-18 January 
2024. The last Peer Challenge had been undertaken in 2018 and it is 
recommended that CPCs are undertaken every five years. 

 
1.3. This report provides more information about the process that was carried out, 

presents the LGA’s recommendations and outlines the Council’s initial 
response to these recommendations and the resulting action plan.  
 

2. Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 

a) accepts the LGA’s feedback report as detailed in Appendix A; 
 

b) accepts the Council’s action plan and response to the recommendations 
as detailed in Appendix B.  

  
3. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1. The delivery of the proposed action plan is a key component of participation in 

the LGA’s CPC process. This ensures that the Council puts into practice a 
number of the recommendations put forward by the Peer Team to ensure the 
Council is delivering the best possible service for residents. 

 
 
 
  

 

page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

  

 

4. Supporting Information 
 

Overview of the Corporate Peer Challenge Process 
 
4.1. CPCs are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers. 

Rushcliffe’s peer team was as follows: 

• Member Peer – Peter Fleming OBE, former Leader, Sevenoaks District 
Council  

• Member Peer – Cllr Martin Stone, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Planning and Environment, Chesterfield Borough Council 

• Chief Executive Peer – Scott Logan, Chief Executive, Basildon Council 

• Executive Director Peer – Ian Edwards, Director of Economy and 
Environment, Wychavon and Malvern Hills District Councils 

• Executive Director Peer – Julie Baird, Director of Planning and Growth, 
West Suffolk Council 

• Shadow Peer – Josh Alderton, Graduate Management Trainee, Southend-
on-Sea City Council 

• LGA Peer Challenge Manager – Vicki Goddard. 
 

4.2. The Peer Team considered the following themes: 

• Local priorities and outcomes 

• Organisational and place leadership 

• Governance and culture 

• Financial planning and management  

• Capacity for improvement  

• Environment (this was an additional theme, requested by the Council). 
 
4.3. CPCs are improvement focused and are not an inspection. The process is not 

designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment of plans and 
proposals, but rather a high-level overview based on the CPC team’s 
experience and knowledge of local government.  

 
4.4. The CPC team took part in 50 meetings, meeting with more than 105 people 

including a range of council staff together with councillors and external 
stakeholders.  

 
Overview of Feedback  

 
4.5. The feedback report can be viewed in its entirety in Appendix A.  

 
4.6. The feedback report reflects positively on the Council and the Borough, stating 

that ‘The borough of Rushcliffe is a great place to live, and Rushcliffe Borough 
Council’s varied, dedicated work is a clear contributing factor’. While the report 
by its nature is focused on areas for improvement, there are a great number of 
positives identified, including: 

• RBC is an exceptional partner, locally and sub-regionally, as highlighted 
by all partner organisations that the peer team spoke to, from the police to 
the voluntary sector, from the sub-region to parish and town level. 

page 6



 

  

 

• RBC’s Chief Executive, who is “tapped into all partnership arrangements” 
and Leader of the Council, provide excellent, ambitious, outward-looking 
place leadership and are well respected for doing so. 

• RBC’s councillors have a strong role also at the community level, having 
often built strong relationships with their parish and town councils. 

• RBC has a robust, current financial position, endorsed by its auditors. 
External and internal auditors were equally impressed with RBC’s 
management of its finances and its responses to audit recommendations 
generally.  

• RBC has a positive, robust and considered approach to its finances, 
alongside its debt-free status. This is to be commended, especially in light 
of its successful delivery of many significant capital projects, housing 
allocations and its plans with strategic partners for the Ratcliffe-on-Soar 
site. 

• RBC’s recent ambitious capital investments have enabled successful 
delivery of new environmentally-friendly community facilities such as the 
Bingham Arena leisure centre, a business centre and the Rushcliffe Oaks 
Crematorium – one of the UK’s first electric cremators that other councils 
have visited to learn from. All of these new facilities are benefiting local 
residents and businesses and have business cases to provide income to 
the Council. 

• RBC leads and drives the environmental agenda at regional level. RBC 
consistently leads the way locally in raising the importance of the climate 
change agenda though its cross-boundary partnerships. Many 
neighbouring and sub-regional partners also look to the Council for support 
on this agenda. The Council is already exceeding its targets for this 
programme and is “chomping on the bit” to achieve more. 

• The Council provides a range of good support to, and engages strongly 
with, its parish and town councils. 

• There is a positive culture within the Council generally, which is supportive 
and caring. Visible, in-person, ‘practice what you preach’ leadership from 
the Chief Executive and EMT has been a clear contributing factor to this.  

 
4.7. The report also reflects on areas where the Peer Team felt the Council should 

continue to focus on or do things differently to operate in the most effective way 
and improve outcomes for residents. These are captured in the key 
recommendations, as follows:  
 

1.  Take a strategic/corporate approach to programme and project 
management, building on and aligning with your existing corporate 
performance management function. 
 

2.  Invest further in staff and councillor training; ensure councillors in 
particular take up mandatory, essential and other training, including that 
on councillor/officer roles, political awareness, code of conduct and other 
internal processes. 
 

3. Create further time, space, resource and capacity with your strategic 
partners to identify what could be needed in future regarding changes in 
the landscape that affect you and your communities, notably the East 

page 7



 

  

 

Midlands Mayoral County Combined Authority (EMMCCA), Development 
Corporation and Freeport. 
 

4 Further develop and align your capital programme with your economic 
growth strategy once you have agreed the latter for 2024/25, with clear 
outcomes for both. 
 

5 Use your respected position with all your partners to deliver further 
defined outcomes across the whole council. 
 

6 Explore options through your climate change action plan to maximise 
delivery of environmental outcomes across your strategic development 
and growth sites. 
 

7 Integrate climate change ambitions in all your service areas. 
 

8 Reduce the number of RBC values, eg to a maximum of five, working 
with your employee liaison group and trade unions. 
 

9 Build up your future, annual or mid-term, light-touch corporate strategy 
refreshes from community level to best understand and respond to your 
communities’ needs and aspirations for the future. 

 
4.8. The recommendations are presented in full, alongside the Council’s proposed 

action plan in Appendix B. The action plan also captures and responds to a 
number of additional observations which have been pulled out from the 
feedback report. As can be seen in Appendix B, the Council is in a good position 
to respond to a number of the recommendations as officers are already in the 
process of delivering or undertaking relevant work.  
 

4.9. There are a small number of observations which we feel may not fairly reflect 
the organisation. The Council’s response to these is captured in the action plan 
in Appendix B. The Council recognises that the Peer Team had limited time on 
site and there are many activities and pieces of work that weren’t able to be 
shared with the team due to time constraints.  
 

4.10. Overall, the Council was happy with the process and the feedback and would 
like to thank the Corporate Peer Team and the LGA for their time and 
commitment.  

 
5. Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection 

 
The Council could choose not to accept the findings of the CPC and not put in 
place a corresponding action plan. However, it is important that the Council 
remains open to feedback and learning, particularly from experienced peers 
and the LGA. This is in the best interests of residents and the Borough.  The 
Council agreed in advance that it would publish the report and commit to putting 
in place an action plan. 
 

 

page 8



 

  

 

6. Risks and Uncertainties  
 

There are no known risks associated with this report.  
 
7. Implications  

 
7.1. Financial Implications 

 
There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. Any 
financial decisions will be considered as part of future budget reporting and 
consideration of the Council’s broader Medium Term Financial Strategy. There 
was no direct cost to the Council of undertaking a Corporate Peer Challenge. 
 

7.2.  Legal Implications 
 

There are no legal implications associated with this report.  
 

7.3.  Equalities Implications 
 
    There are no equalities implications associated with this report.  

 
7.4.  Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications 

 
     There are no crime and disorder implications associated with this report. 

 
7.5. Biodiversity Net Gain Implications 
 

There are no biodiversity net gain implications associated with this report. 
 
8. Link to Corporate Priorities   
  

The Environment The Council requested that the environment be considered 
as a sixth key theme in the CPC, reflecting its 
level of priority to the Council. The Feedback report reflect 
positively on the Council’s work in this area, and makes a 
number of recommendations, which the Council has 
responded to in the action plan.  

Quality of Life The feedback report reflects positively on ‘Quality of Life’ in 
the Borough and makes a number of recommendations, 
which the Council has responded to in the action plan. 

Efficient Services The feedback report reflects positively on the Council’s 
approach to delivering efficient services, with a particular 
focus on the Council’s robust financial position.  The report 
makes a number of recommendations, which the Council has 
responded to in the action plan. 

Sustainable 
Growth 

The feedback report reflects positively on the Council’s 
approach to sustainable, particular in relation to the strong 
partnerships that the Council has, promoting growth across 
the region. The report makes a number of recommendations, 
which the Council has responded to in the action plan. 

page 9



 

  

 

 
 

9.  Recommendation 
  

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 

a) accepts the LGA’s feedback report as detailed in Appendix A; 
 

b) accepts the Council’s action plan and response to the recommendations as 
detailed in Appendix B.  

 
 

For more information contact: 
 

Kath Marriott Chief Executive 
0115 914 8291 
kmarriott@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 

Background papers available for 
Inspection: 

None 
 

List of appendices: Appendix A – LGA feedback report 
Appendix B – CPC Action Plan  

 

page 10

mailto:kmarriott@rushcliffe.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge 
 

 

Rushcliffe Borough Council 
 
Monday 15 to Thursday 18 January 2024 

 
Feedback report 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

page 11



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

 

Contents 
1. Executive summary .............................................................................................. 3 

2. Key recommendations ......................................................................................... 4 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach ........................................................... 7 

4. Feedback ............................................................................................................. 9 

5. Next steps .......................................................................................................... 26 

 
 
  

page 12

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

1. Executive summary 

The borough of Rushcliffe is a great place to live, and Rushcliffe Borough Council’s 

(RBC’s) varied, dedicated work is a clear contributing factor. The borough’s town and 

village hubs are home to a variety of successful independent shops, leisure facilities, 

and pleasant residential areas, which continue to develop. The council has clearly 

contributed to this positive environment through its good, committed services to its 

residents, visitors and businesses. RBC is also working on significant, strategic 

projects, such as the redevelopment of the Ratcliffe-on-Soar power station site as 

part of the East Midlands Freeport and the East Midlands Development Corporation.  

A constant throughout the council’s work is its very strong relationships with its 

partners, who also as a result contribute substantially to the borough’s success. RBC 

often leads and influences these close relationships and partnerships through its 

substantial place leadership role, not only within Nottinghamshire but the wider sub-

region. As a result of all this partnership work, the council is highly respected by all 

partners the peer team spoke to. RBC should therefore continue developing this 

partnership agenda, especially within the sub-regional space.    

RBC’s Leader plays a key role at the strategic and partnership level. RBC’s 

councillors have a strong role also at the community level, having often built strong 

relationships with their parish and town councils. All councillors should further 

strengthen and use these positive networks to make the most of related possibilities. 

The council’s Extended Management Team (ExMT) – its Executive Management 

Team (EMT) and Service Manager Team combined - is strong and supportive. EMT 

is visible and approachable as part of RBC’s open office environment. ExMT 

supports its staff through career progression, training and development. Together, 

EMT and ExMT have created a caring and supportive culture throughout the council.        

RBC has a robust, current financial position, endorsed by its auditors, through its:  

• clear, five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) to 2027/28 

• robust financial planning process, reporting and scrutiny 

• prudent and measured management of its finances, debt-free position, and plans 

to maintain its reserves for the MTFS’s duration 

• credible plans to deal with its budget gap identified in the MTFS.  

page 13

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

The council should use its strong financial and influential place leadership positions 

to further extend its corporate and financial ambitions within the wider, developing 

sub-regional space. This will ensure RBC’s resources, including its expertise and 

experience, best shape that as well as its own agenda. It will also ensure Rushcliffe’s 

residents and other stakeholders are best served by those agendas.    

The peer team felt that RBC could particularly extend its ambitions further for the 

benefit of its local stakeholders through its planned annual or mid-term, light-touch 

refresh of its corporate strategy, by analysing and using local demographic data and 

engaging more its diverse communities to improve its services for all residents. The 

borough’s older, rural, ethnic minority and digitally excluded residents are just part of 

this diversity. Analysis and use of this data, and targeted engagement with these 

groups would help the council deliver even better services to all its residents. It could 

also enhance community relationships and volunteer networks, who could further 

contribute to the borough’s success.  

The council clearly communicates ‘to’ its residents by providing them with a variety of 

information in numerous ways. Conversely, RBC communicates less ‘with’ its 

communities on a two-way, interactive basis. This risks communities feeling that they 

are simply being told what is happening in the borough, rather than also being able to  

influence and shape what happens as part of an inclusive community approach.  

2. Key recommendations 

There are a number of observations and suggestions within the main section of the 

report. The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the council: 

2.1 Take a strategic/corporate approach to programme and project 

management, building on and aligning with your existing corporate 

performance management function – service-level project, programme 

and performance management works well within the council but there is no 

corporate function to co-ordinate, oversee and support these aspects of 

management together. This presents potential risks and missed opportunities 

to share learning, enhance practice and consistency across services, and 

present the strongest stances on any given work area – internally and 

externally. You should therefore review your corporate approach to 

page 14

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

programme and project management, align it with your existing corporate 

performance management function, and consider creating an overall 

corporate function to support this work in the round. 

2.2 Invest further in staff and councillor training; ensure councillors in 

particular take up mandatory, essential and other training, including 

that on councillor/officer roles, political awareness, code of conduct 

and other internal processes – this need only build on your existing training 

and development offer and would enable officers and councillors to fully 

understand each other’s roles and related codes of conduct. Addressing this 

will enhance work and relationships between the two groups. It would also 

enhance key internal procedures relating to councillors, which needs 

resolving urgently through more engagement with councillors, their 

attendance at related training and related regular monitoring.     

2.3 Create further time, space, resource and capacity with your strategic 

partners to identify what could be needed in future regarding changes 

in the landscape that affect you and your communities, notably the East 

Midlands Mayoral County Combined Authority (EMMCCA), 

Development Corporation and Freeport – you play a significant role sub-

regionally but as this agenda takes shape and grows, you could lose out or 

fall behind. You therefore need to create further time, space, resource and 

capacity with your partners to identify what could yet be needed in this wider 

context. You also need to review whether all your partnership arrangements 

are fully strategic and delivering the priorities of, and value to, the borough.  

2.4 Further develop and align your capital programme with your economic 

growth strategy once you have agreed the latter for 2024/25, with clear 

outcomes for both. You have successfully completed substantial capital 

works through your healthy financial resources. You now have the chance to 

review, strengthen and communicate your future capital programme and 

align it with your economic growth strategy once you have agreed it to make 

the most of this substantial success and learning. This would make even 

better use of the council’s strong financial and influential place leadership 

positions. This is a clear chance to make the most of all this work to deliver 

your key priorities to full effect and strengthen your finances further, such as 

page 15

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

through extra income generation.   

2.5 Use your respected position with all your partners to deliver further 

defined outcomes across the whole council – you are already using your 

environmental partnerships to lever in additional funding to support delivery. 

So make the most of this and your strong partnerships to attract further 

funding to deliver other work across the council. Unlike many other borough 

and district councils, you receive relatively little external funding. You should 

therefore maximise financial potential via these partnership routes.   

2.6 Explore options through your climate change action plan to maximise 

delivery of environmental outcomes across your strategic development 

and growth sites – you are successfully delivering a range of environmental 

activity via a corporate team, with many more options to explore and 

develop. You now need to further articulate this work, so you and partners 

are clear who is doing and funding what activity, and how well. This will give 

you a clear sense of what is making the most impact and therefore how best 

to progress this agenda further.    

2.7 Integrate climate change ambitions in all your service areas – since the  

environment is one of your key priorities, thoroughly explore each of your 

services for related possibilities, and integrate climate change ambitions 

within each service plan. This will help you use every option to realise your 

environmental goals.  

2.8 Reduce the number of RBC values, eg to a maximum of five, working 

with your employee liaison group and trade unions – it is difficult for your 

staff to remember, distinguish and work to your 11 current values; there are 

too many. So review and reduce them with staff to a more focused, 

manageable number. This will make them more effective and easier to live.      

2.9 Build up your future, annual or mid-term, light-touch corporate strategy 

refreshes from community level to best understand and respond to 

your communities’ needs and aspirations for the future. Make the most 

of local demographic data. Rushcliffe is home to many diverse and 

page 16

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

intersecting communities. Making the most of this data and engaging with 

your diverse communities would help improve existing services and could 

enhance the borough’s sense of community/ies, volunteer networks, and 

make the most of what these diverse communities have to offer.  

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach 

3.1 The peer team 

Corporate Peer Challenges (CPCs) are delivered by experienced elected member 

(councillor or mayoral) and officer peers. The make-up of the peer team reflected the 

focus of the CPC, and peers were selected on the basis of their relevant expertise: 

• Member Peer – Peter Fleming OBE, former Leader, Sevenoaks District Council 

(DC) 

• (Member Peer was originally Duncan McGinty, former Leader, Sedgemoor DC)  

• Member Peer – Cllr Martin Stone, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning 

and Environment, Chesterfield Borough Council  

• Chief Executive Peer – Scott Logan, Chief Executive, Basildon Council  

• Executive Director Peer – Ian Edwards, Director of Economy and Environment, 

Wychavon and Malvern Hills District Councils 

• Executive Director Peer – Julie Baird, Director of Planning and Growth, West 

Suffolk Council  

• Shadow Peer – Josh Alderton, Graduate Management Trainee, Southend-on-Sea 

City Council 

• LGA Peer Challenge Manager – Vicki Goddard 

• LGA Project Support Officer – Suraiya Khatun. 

3.2 Scope and focus 

The peer team considered the following five themes that form the core components 

of all CPCs. These areas are critical to councils’ performance and improvement, and 

were tailored to Rushcliffe BC: 

1. Local priorities and outcomes – in the context of being based in, and 

page 17

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

wanting to inform, influence and steer the decisions of, the EMMCCA, East 

Midlands Freeport, East Midlands Development Company and the 

Government’s Integrated Rail Plan/HS2 areas, whilst refreshing Rushcliffe 

Borough Council’s corporate strategy, which at the time of scoping this 

CPC ran to 2023 and was therefore being consulted on as part of a review to 

refresh it: Are the council’s priorities clear and informed by the local context? Is 

the council delivering effectively on its priorities and achieving improved outcomes 

for all its communities?   

2. Organisational and place leadership in the context of that outlined in the 

previous bullet: Does the council provide effective local leadership? Are there 

good relationships with partner organisations and local communities? 

3. Governance and culture in the context of 20 new councillors as a result of 

the May 2023 local elections: Are there clear and robust governance 

arrangements?  Is there a culture of respect, challenge and scrutiny? 

4. Financial planning and management: Does the council have a clear 

understanding of its current financial position? Does the council have a strategy 

and a clear plan to address its financial challenges? How is environmental 

revenue expenditure developing, eg regarding potential recycling 

opportunities, grants for e-car charging points, etc, and what further 

opportunities are there for the council to secure external funding?   

5. Capacity for improvement: Is the organisation able to support delivery of local 

priorities?  Does the council have the capacity to improve? 

 

Additionally, RBC asked the peer team to feedback on the additional theme of: 

Environment – to explore the council’s approach to this subject all round, for 

example in terms of climate change, net zero, energy generation and waste 

management – not only within the borough but the EMMCCA and the East Midlands 

region more generally. 

3.3 The CPC process 

CPCs are improvement focused; it is important to stress that this was not an 

inspection. The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical 

page 18

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

assessment of plans and proposals. The peer team used their experience and 

knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by 

people they met, things they saw and material that they read.  

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information to 

ensure they were familiar with the council and the challenges it is facing. The team 

then spent three and a half days onsite at RBC, during which they: 

• gathered information and views from more than 50 meetings, in addition to further 

research and reading 

• spoke to more than 105 people including a range of council staff together with 

councillors and external stakeholders. 

 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. In presenting feedback, 

they have done so as fellow local government officers and councillors. 

4. Feedback 

4.1 Local priorities and outcomes 

RBC refreshed its corporate strategy promptly after the local elections in May 2023. 

The council used its residents’ views, through RBC’s online and other consultation 

processes, to inform and shape its aspirations and activities against each key priority. 

Service managers and lead specialists significantly informed and shaped the 

refreshed strategy through their service teams’ insight, which altogether led to an 

enhanced corporate, collated view and strategy to enhance the borough and the lives 

of its residents.  RBC has used the refreshed corporate strategy to provide a clear 

‘golden thread’ from its key priorities to its service plans, strategies and actions.  

A number of people the peer team spoke to could not articulate what the refreshed 

high-level aims look like as outcomes in practice, nor how they could support their 

delivery. This is understandable as these aims were only adopted in December. RBC 

cascaded the aims to staff this month but recognises it can communicate these aims 

further. This current situation nevertheless makes it harder for councillors, staff, 

residents and other stakeholders to communicate, prioritise, deliver, enhance, 

engage with, recognise and celebrate corporate strategy related progress and 

page 19

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

success. RBC should therefore address this as part of the strategy’s annual or mid-

term, light-touch refresh so that everyone understands what the strategy means in 

practice, whether they are delivering or benefiting from its outcomes.   

RBC’s recent ambitious capital investments have enabled successful delivery of new 

environmentally-friendly community facilities such as the Bingham Arena leisure 

centre, a business centre and the Rushcliffe Oaks Crematorium – one of the UK’s 

first electric cremators that other councils have visited to learn from. All of these new 

facilities are benefiting local residents and businesses, and have business cases to 

provide income to the council. Notably, RBC committed to and delivered this capital 

programme during the Covid-19 pandemic when it could have chosen otherwise. 

Having delivered these capital projects, RBC has the chance to review, strengthen 

and communicate its ambitions and future capital programme to make the most of 

this substantial success and learning. This would also make the best use of the 

council’s strong financial and influential place leadership positions.  

RBC’s four key priorities remain the same in the refreshed corporate strategy: The 

Environment, Quality of Life, Efficient Services and Sustainable Growth. Yet the 

council is doing much more than remaining the same. The council could therefore, by 

way of example, more strongly articulate and communicate its ambitions to deliver 

excellent, innovative and sector-leading services, rather than state, and so be 

perceived to be aiming for, just Efficient Services. It could also invest in renewable 

energy regeneration by way of financial investment, helping deliver its net zero 

agenda and substantially advance its other priorities. RBC wants to retain its strong 

financial position to best withstand future pressures, so understandably does not 

want to take unnecessary risks through its future capital programme plans. 

Communicating and explaining RBC’s prudent financial stance and its latest 

ambitions could help residents, partners and other stakeholders understand the 

council’s balance to deliver its corporate strategy with responsible finances. RBC 

should also consider how to further its capital programme plans through additional 

calculated, evidence-based decisions to help deliver its corporate priorities. 

Strong, service level performance management, with regular activity and ownership, 

monitors and addresses performance and targets. Quarterly councillor scrutiny via 

RBC’s Corporate Overview Group, regular EMT oversight, and performance reviews 

page 20

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

- whereby service managers challenge each other’s progress in supportive yet 

challenging ways - are greatly assisting this approach. RBC’s LG Inform headline 

report outlines performance successes: council and business tax collection rates, 

housing services, public health, household waste and recycling. 

RBC and the same LG Inform report also recognise some performance areas have 

not been as strong. The council’s planning service was one of these areas as 

evidenced by complaints, resource issues, staff feedback and performance data but 

senior and service managers did much to improve the service. National expectation 

was for planning demand to fall during the pandemic but it increased 40 per cent in 

the borough. RBC planning staff were also feeling the effects of a national shortage 

of planners, pandemic-related isolation and grieving the loss of two dear, senior 

planning colleagues. Planning performance suffered as result but robust service level 

performance management improved the situation. Additionally, senior service 

managers worked with planning staff and: encouraged people into RBC’s office 

more, supported staff individually, restructured the service to allow for promotion and 

growth with additional resource, created a healthy, positive environment for service 

managers to challenge each other’s performance data, and colleagues redesigned 

processes to make them more efficient. With sustainable growth a corporate priority, 

within a wider sub-regional agenda with partners, RBC should continue monitoring 

and enhancing this planning service and its resources to ensure it remains fit for 

purpose. This includes developing staff as needed to support delivery of RBC’s 

significant strategic sites including Ratcliffe-on-Soar, and facilitating joint working to 

address gaps in provision such as infrastructure. With so many high profile sites, it is 

important the council develops a clear narrative about its role in supporting good 

place making as developments come forward. RBC’s growth board has been set up 

to support delivery of its economic agenda and strategic sites. The council needs to 

continue its corporate oversight, monitoring and resource allocation to ensure 

partners including developers are held to account in delivering policy requirements 

and other important place making outcomes. 

Across council services, there are lots of, and potentially too many, performance and 

other indicators to monitor and act on. This could divert focus, time and resources 

away from RBC’s key priorities. The corporate performance management function 

should therefore review, co-ordinate, remove, enhance and/or replace council 

page 21

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/lga-research-report-headline-report-dashboards?mod-area=E07000176&mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion&mod-type=comparisonGroupType
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/lga-research-report-headline-report-dashboards?mod-area=E07000176&mod-group=AllDistrictInRegion&mod-type=comparisonGroupType


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

indicators as required, so remaining indicators align with RBC’s key priorities, related 

outcomes, and are fit for purpose. This smaller, tighter and most relevant set of 

indicators would be easier for all to focus on and manage, to deliver RBC’s key 

priorities within a set of agreed timescales.  

RBC has a bespoke, flexible and successful central resource to plan and deliver 

individual significant projects, such as building the crematorium and latest leisure 

centre. This resource draws on skills and expertise required per project from across 

the council and manages each project with a sponsor and supporting team. RBC also 

has a strong service planning process, notably at ExMT level.  

The peer team strongly felt that RBC should review its corporate approach to 

programme and project management. A new central function, to manage all council 

projects and programmes, and focus on delivering corporate priorities, could build on 

and align with its existing central project resource and corporate performance 

management function. Together, these corporate functions could co-ordinate, 

streamline, oversee and support these three areas of management across RBC’s 

work. This would help focus on, prioritise and drive the delivery of priorities and 

cross-cutting issues, related performance, and resourcing opportunities across the 

council to the maximum. It could also help monitor and manage related cost controls.  

Looking outside the council, RBC uses various mechanisms to communicate strongly 

‘to’ its residents, business and partners, who as a result know what RBC is doing. 

RBC’s refreshed and more accessible and functional website, its social media 

channels, residents’ newsletter and weekly subscription email, fortnightly newsletter 

to town and parish councils, and the work of its councillors, who respond to and 

action residents’ comments in various ways all help promote the council’s work. 

RBC communicates less ‘with’ its residents on a two-way feedback basis. RBC does 

not have an engagement strategy but having one would help the council understand 

and address its communities’ immediate and future needs and aspirations. It would 

also enable more residents to provide feedback and inform council and sub-regional 

approaches, and get involved in council activities. An engagement strategy could 

also inform and contribute to the council’s annual or mid-term, light-touch corporate 

strategy refreshes from the community level.  

The council could also make more use of local demographic data across a range of 

page 22

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) dimensions – protected and other 

characteristics - to enhance service provision for all its residents. RBC has used this 

data in some respects and has worked with specific communities accordingly, 

through partnership work in Cotgrave to address health inequalities, and engaging 

with the local Hong Kong community and Ukrainian residents. The borough is 

however home to a range of diverse and intersecting communities - an ageing 

population, with many living in rural areas, with differing levels of digital connectivity - 

and 11 per cent of residents are of non-white heritage. RBC should therefore make 

the most of related data, and engage more with these and other communities. Work 

of this nature could additionally enhance the borough’s sense of community/ies, 

volunteer networks, and make the most of what these diverse communities have to 

offer. Promoting, and otherwise making more visible, what the council is already 

doing in relation to this, as well as future work, would also reassure Rushcliffe’s 

communities that their council recognises and is responding to their different needs. 

It could also encourage them to further use these services and engage with the 

council, and enhance services even more as a result.    

That said, the council is undertaking a variety of more work in relation to EDI within 

the council with its staff, which is further outlined later in this report.    

4.2 Organisational and place leadership  

RBC is an exceptional partner, locally and sub-regionally, as highlighted by all 

partner organisations that the peer team spoke to, from the police to the voluntary 

sector, from the sub-region to parish and town level, in two key regards: 

1. as a leading partner in its own right – RBC’s Chief Executive in particular, who is 

“tapped into all partnership arrangements”, as well as the Leader of the Council, 

provide excellent, ambitious, outward-looking place leadership and are well 

respected for doing so, especially regarding joint work on fraud and anti-social 

behaviour. They produce, persuade partners of, and lead clear business cases, 

not only for Rushcliffe but for whatever spatial level they are representing on other 

partners’ behalf - greater Nottingham, the south or full county, the sub-region and 

the East Midlands as a whole 

2. as a mature partner that continues to develop great working relationships at all 

levels:  corporate, service, managerial and political. These partnerships, in which 

page 23

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

14 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

RBC operates, span from locally shared services through to the sub-regional and 

regional agenda of the EMMCCA, Freeport and Development Corporation. 

RBC has also invested significant money, time, staff and other resources in major 

strategic projects across the region, giving it further influence and representation – ‘a 

seat at the table’ – as well as contributing to the delivery of projects.  

Notably, RBC leads and drives the environmental agenda at regional level. Section 

4.6 looks at these developments in more detail. 

The council provides a range of good support to, and engages strongly with, its 

parish and town councils. RBC publishes a fortnightly newsletter to these councils, 

and organises and supports the Town and Parish Forum, which seeks local views 

and shares information, as do RBC councillors as communication champions at this 

level. The council has established a new parish council, and progresses various 

initiatives with these councils. RBC also runs a parish forum specifically about 

Ratcliffe on Soar, a growth board specifically about the Fairham area, and engages  

with Newton Parish Council about growth in that area.  

RBC should continue all this good work with its parish and town councils to 

continually capture and respond to needs at that level.  With so much positive and 

proactive work going on with parishes and towns, RBC could usefully develop a 

public strategy or master framework that brings and presents all this work together. 

This would enable the council to monitor and co-ordinate this work in the round to 

make it even more effective. It would also help parish and town communities 

understand how and why RBC prioritises its related activities and resources in the 

areas chosen, and help them further engage with and influence related agenda and 

decision-making. 

At a much bigger scale, significant change is on its way through the EMMCCA, 

Freeport and Development Corporation, as part of the developing sub-regional 

agenda. RBC’s Chief Executive chairs the Ratcliffe-on-Soar forum that brings 

together these organisations with government, Uniper – the international energy 

company that owns the power station, the county council and other strategic 

partners. This is another clear example of RBC leading the development of strong, 

local partnerships. Through such work, RBC has explored some but not all the 

related risks and opportunities, especially its ‘known unknowns’. These include for 

page 24

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

15 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

example how partners will work and fund future projects together in response to the 

developing sub-regional agenda. This prevents local businesses and RBC itself from 

working to their full potential – individually and together. They may even lose out or 

fall behind as a result of not exploring these known unknowns sufficiently. The 

council must therefore continue its good sub-regional partnership work outlined 

above, including its development of a regional strategic vision for economic and other 

growth. This vision will align and maximise all partners’ work including that of the 

council, its development and community boards, and local businesses. 

New housing is a key area where a vision and plans for growth need to be clear 

between all relevant partners, notably in relation to RBC’s key priorities of the 

environment and sustainable growth, to make the most of everyone’s resources and 

plans for these goals. The council has set up the Fairham Board, is setting up a 

Fairham parish council, developing a Supplementary Planning Document for the 

Gamston Sustainable Urban Extension as part of this. An overall vision and plans for 

growth would align and enable the best co-ordination of all this work with all partners, 

and help ensure that housing being delivered meets different needs as required.  

Now is therefore a crucial time for RBC to create further time, space, resource and 

capacity with its strategic partners to identify what could be needed in future 

regarding these landscape changes. The council should also review whether all its 

partnership arrangements are fully strategic and delivering the priorities of, and value 

to, the borough. This will ensure, as these significant developing sub-regional 

agendas develop, that the council’s partnerships, partners and all their work 

programmes contribute in the soundest way to these bigger agendas and make the 

most of these combined resources. RBC’s successful, leading sub-regional work on 

the environment perfectly illustrates how the council can and should use its influence 

and involvement in other strategic sub-regional work areas such as skills and 

transport, where historically RBC has not yet played a leading role, to ensure the 

needs of the borough are best met.  

4.3 Governance and culture 

Councillors are mainly respectful, supportive and understand each other’s role. RBC 

welcomed 20 new councillors after the May 2023 local elections, and has introduced 

a range of induction training and development to support them in their role.  

page 25

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

16 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

There is a positive culture within the council generally, which is supportive and 

caring. Visible, in-person, ‘practice what you preach’ leadership from the Chief 

Executive and EMT has been a clear contributing factor to this. They work in the 

open plan council office alongside their staff and councillors, accessible and 

approachable to all. This positive culture extends to the proactive relations between 

senior management, staff trade unions, RBC’s employee liaison group and staff more 

generally. Everyone feels valued and supported through this positive work culture.  

Despite the range of support available, the peer team heard throughout its visit that 

not all councillors understand the role of officers and vice versa. Consequently, some 

councillors and officers are not undertaking their roles as strongly and efficiently as 

they could be. Officers for example can take councillors’ questions as criticism, when 

councillors often just want to know how or why the council responds to various 

situations. This can lead to councillors asking fewer questions for fear of offending 

officers, hindering their understanding of how the council operates and relations with 

officers. Some officers can spend significant time drafting and presenting reports to 

councillors at meetings on issues that do not require this level of formality or 

operational detail. RBC should therefore provide further training and enable all 

councillors and officers to understand each other’s roles and codes of conduct, and 

consequently make the best use of all their time. It is key that the council ensures as 

many councillors as possible take up such training whilst the current Council and 

opposition are still relatively new, including the 20 new councillors since the May 

2023 local elections. Training and development on this, which the LGA can provide, 

will help officers and councillors resolve any remaining problems and best work 

together throughout this electoral term and beyond.  

Scrutiny is a key council function, and the developing sub-regional agenda will make 

that function even more so. It is therefore crucial that this function is robust across 

the council’s four scrutiny groups. The Corporate Overview Group has a good handle 

on scrutinising council performance, and planning the work programmes of all the 

scrutiny groups. The role and definition of successful scrutiny however is not clear. 

Neither therefore is it clear whether the scrutiny function is taking the best actions 

and decisions. The peer team also heard mixed messages about scrutiny throughout 

its visit. Scrutiny recommendations could be more precise and proactive instead of 

being to ‘consider’ action or information. The RBC’s matrix approach and form could 

page 26

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

17 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

be enhanced, so scrutiny requests outline what needs to happen, rather than just 

what needs to be understood. The matrix approach could also be more transparent 

at officer and Corporate Overview Group level, so it is clear how each submission 

was considered and actioned. This would particularly help reassure councillors who 

see their submissions go into the “bureaucratic machine” for hidden officer, rather 

than open councillor, consideration. Some councillors also felt that scrutiny is not 

working for opposition councillors. Given these mixed messages, RBC should 

consider undertaking a comprehensive review of its scrutiny function, the role and 

number of overview and scrutiny groups, processes and procedures, aligned with 

progressing RBC’s corporate strategy, with councillor engagement at its core. This 

would help clarify the role of scrutiny, each group, and improve related processes. 

Many risks have been identified, through the corporate risk register and elsewhere. 

Proactively identifying risks is a positive but there are too many at the corporate level 

for the council to effectively manage. Sometimes identified risks have no detail 

beyond being a heading in a report, nor have any high level mitigations to address 

them. The council has undertaken related work recently following detailed training 

from its auditors. RBC should therefore build on this work to address these issues 

further. RBC should be clear which risks are to be managed at corporate and service 

levels, ensure corporate risks in particular are clearly identified, prioritised, strategic, 

fewer in number with robust mitigations, and then manage those risks – both at 

corporate and service levels. 

The peer team also heard that the council is risk aware, not least regarding its 

financial and corporate ambitions – or at least communicating those ambitions, as 

mentioned elsewhere in this report. The council should therefore strengthen its 

approach to risk at both corporate and service level, again through a potential joint 

central programme, project and performance function. 

4.4 Financial planning and management 

The peer team was impressed with RBC’s: 

• clear, five-year MTFS to 2027/28 

• robust financial planning process, reporting and scrutiny in the context of the 

council’s latest corporate plan  

page 27

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

• prudent and measured management of its finances, its debt-free position, and 

plans to maintain its total reserves at around £12 million for the MTFS’ duration 

• credible plans to deal with its budget gap of £1.5 million in the last three years of 

the MTFS through in-year variations funded from its reserves.  

External and internal auditor were equally impressed with RBC’s management of its 

finances and its responses to audit recommendations generally. Both auditors said 

the council provided “substantial assurance” for design and controls of its main 

financial systems, and collecting and banking income from charging market traders, 

with just one ‘low’ finding related to each. These approaches would have contributed 

to RBC receiving a rare unqualified, scrutinised external audit letter for 2022/23.  

RBC has allocated £1 million of reserves to assist capital programmes related to its 

corporate priority of environment – to be carbon neutral by 2030 - and flooding work. 

This work’s project sponsor is a council deputy chief executive who follows the 

delivery of the climate change action plan. Given these significant plans and funding, 

central, aligned project, programme and performance management functions would 

help ensure everything required is delivered to time, quality and within budget.  

The council has a positive, robust and considered approach to its finances, alongside 

its debt-free status. This is to be commended, especially in light of its successful 

delivery of many significant capital projects, housing allocations and its plans with 

strategic partners for the Ratcliffe-on-Soar site. RBC does however need to 

communicate its next round of ambitious corporate, financial including investment 

plans widely so residents, partners and other local stakeholders are reassured how 

the council is building on these successes. The council’s desire to maintain its 

current financial standing is understandable but RBC should make the most of its 

available financial options and communicate its plans to generate future revenue 

streams, undertake proactive cost prevention and make further savings. The council 

could also make the most of funding across council and sub-regional priorities, for 

example by developing and delivering with partners a shared vision for growth, and 

combining work and deliverables around new and related housing, skills and 

environmental agendas. RBC should as part of this explore how to maximise any 

devolution related investment opportunities. It should also consider how to make the 

most of its rural context to continue leading the way in delivering its statutory 

page 28

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

19 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

environmental duties, such as to protect and enhance biodiversity as well as deliver 

net gain. New financing initiatives need not decrease the council’s finances overall if 

RBC plans and delivers them well. Indeed, activities and investment of this kind could 

replenish and boost RBC’s future reserves, as key potential national risks present 

themselves, such as any negative impact of the forthcoming national business rates 

reset and other longer term funding issues.  

The council should work with its councillors and officers now to test and develop their 

appetite to take on future debt if there is a strong business case to do so. This will 

ensure that if the need to take on debt ever arises, the council will have a clear, 

collective stance to make these decisions in a timely way. 

At the beginning of a financial year, RBC openly presents and agrees any revised 

budget required alongside its original budget figures, and compares it with its outturn. 

This highlights amounts carried forward from the previous year, which RBC 

effectively manages in light of the original budget. Nevertheless, the peer team heard 

and would advise against using revised budgets as standard practice. This is 

because it provides managers with less incentive to stick to originally agreed 

budgets, which could lead to unnecessary budgetary problems over time. It also 

makes it harder to understand the level of variation from original budgets, which 

could make it harder to manage, scrutinise and agree future budgets.  

The peer team feels that RBC could build in regular constructive, supportive 

challenge of its income generation and financial plans, and commission an external, 

independent review of its assets and their future commercial potential. This would 

help ensure the council considers all avenues to maximise its income, strengthen its 

future reserves, and manage its assets and finances even better, in its spirit of 

“complacency is our enemy”. RBC is already planning to undertake a strategic asset 

review, which will help this suggested work.  

Additionally, the council is working on its existing capital programme, which it should 

further develop and align with RBC’s economic growth strategy once it has agreed 

the latter for 2024/25, with clear outcomes for both. The economic strategy aims to 

help the council better understand the diversity of its local economies, and where to 

focus efforts and resources to help businesses build resilience, adapt and improve 

productivity. RBC’s capital programme allocates specific resources to key corporate 

page 29

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

20 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

priorities including sustainable growth. Aligning the capital programme with the 

economic growth strategy, once the council has agreed the latter, will strengthen and 

highlight synergies between, and the importance of both. The council has healthy 

finances, which it could make the most of in related ways, not only to deliver its key 

priorities but to strengthen its finances further, generate income and so on. 

4.5 Capacity for improvement 

As outlined earlier in this report, the strong, positive role of, and engagement with 

ExMT throughout the council has created a supportive working environment for staff 

and councillors. RBC’s 2023 staff survey results reflect this positive environment, 

with clear improvements made over the last decade. The council has also supported 

work on staff mental health. 

There is also a range of good staff training, development and support mechanisms, 

whether people want to progress their career, do their current job better, or required 

bespoke, personal support, depending on their needs. Such a supportive and 

developmental culture may help explain why staff retention is good, with many 

officers having worked at the council for years and often decades.  

Staff, not least via the council’s employee liaison group and the trade unions, feel 

positive about the implementation of corporate actions relating to internal EDI work 

practices and initiatives. RBC is setting up an equalities group, with East Midlands 

Councils acting as a supportive ‘critical friend’. The equalities group recognises it has 

fulfilled mandatory requirements, has identified neurodiversity as a new area of 

focus, and wants to further consider individual teams’ needs. RBC now needs to 

support the group corporately to undertake the scale of work required to embed and 

inclusive culture across the council. Learning from this work can then be applied to 

other areas of corporate improvement such as resident and business engagement.  

RBC continues to develop its approach to flexible working, not only for existing but 

for future staff through the Everyday Flex@RBC programme, due to be launched in 

2024. Co-designed with managers, this programme offers a more consistent 

approach to flexibility across the council. The council is competing with neighbouring 

local authorities to recruit to vacancies. RBC therefore hopes by promoting Everyday 

Flex@RBC, it will attract new applicants and indeed recruits. 

page 30

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

21 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

The council has also reviewed its approach to recruitment, identifying that curriculum 

vitae is a better way to engage with applicants. RBC supports service teams across 

the council to address recruitment issues and as a result, for example, has recruited 

staff rather than used agencies for its planning function. Where it is difficult to recruit, 

RBC should consider how further to increase resilience, including exploring more 

development and progression pathways and potential shared services.   

As mentioned earlier, there is a clear ‘golden thread’ from RBC’s corporate priorities 

to its service plans but not all staff know the council’s key priorities nor their role in 

delivering them. So the ‘golden thread’ does not consistently extend to each member 

of staff via the appraisal system, on-going regular 1:1s, and other support to staff. 

The peer team therefore suggests RBC should strengthen the ‘golden thread’ to 

individual level. Following the council adopting its refreshed corporate strategy in 

December, individual appraisals are happening until the end of April, which should 

take account of the strategy and enhance its link to the individual level.    

The council is a lean organisation. Many staff are working at full capacity, and if one 

member of staff is off work for any amount of time, it can put further pressure on 

remaining staff to deliver others’ as well as their own work. Plenty of support is 

available to staff in an already supportive environment but there is the potential for 

this pressure to grow if any capacity issues are not addressed. Vacancies could put 

further pressure on remaining staff and exacerbate any situation further. RBC 

therefore needs to build its resilience, through its appraisal system, day to day 

management of staff, and bolster its succession planning consistently across all 

service teams to address and prevent any such pressures. This will ensure that its 

staff are best supported, developed and can continually give their best and deliver to 

residents, visitors and businesses of the borough. Succession planning is especially 

key where only one person undertakes certain tasks and may suddenly need to take 

time off, and when long-serving staff leave, taking their years of knowledge and 

experience with them, potentially leaving gaps in their teams to deal with. RBC’s 

work to progress innovation and develop generative artificial intelligence to enhance 

customer and potentially other services, could significantly help support staff.   

The council also needs to review its corporate values on the simple basis that the 

current 11 values are too many. This is making it difficult for all staff to remember, 

understand, differentiate between and ultimately live them all. Reviewing and 

page 31

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

22 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

reducing RBC’s values with staff, the trade unions and the employee liaison group, to 

a more focused and manageable number, five for example, would make the values 

far more effective and likely to be lived. This work could be further embedded 

throughout the council via an effective launch and continued promotion.        

Staff from across RBC take part in national and regional programmes to share and 

learn from others. These include working with the District Councils’ Network whereby 

RBC’s Chief Executive is the region’s representative, East Midlands Councils and 

Solace programmes, and other county-wide groups. The council participates in 

Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire environmental schemes, and learns from other 

councils. RBC’s Section 151 Officer attends the Society of District Council 

Treasurers. Along with its wealth of other strong partnerships, RBC is clearly working 

well ‘with’ a range of organisations. The peer team heard much less however about 

how the council learns ‘from’ others, especially at the sub-regional level, where 

significant work is happening. This means RBC could potentially miss out on new 

ways to work more efficiently and strategically as an already strong council that can 

make the most of such opportunities. The council should therefore promote its work 

and seek learning far more widely, as RBC could gain so much in doing so. This 

includes: increased morale and learning from celebrating the successes of such joint-

working, wider recognition from others, which could encourage them - especially at 

sub-regional level - to work and share resources and learning with the council to 

further achieve and exceed its corporate goals.  

A small but significant internal procedural risk relating to councillors was highlighted 

to the peer team. RBC’s approach to internal procedures across the council is 

generally strong. Many councillors have already taken up relevant training but some 

have not, or are not consistently applying what is required. One small mistake could 

quickly cause a serious council-wide, if not wider incident, which could impact on 

stakeholders. The council should therefore look to address this issue as soon as 

possible, by ensuring, possibly enforcing, that all councillors undertake mandatory, 

essential or other training or refresher training required and abide by related 

protocols to best safeguard RBC’s internal procedures.  

4.6 Environment 

RBC consistently leads the way locally in raising the importance of the climate 

page 32

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

23 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

change agenda though its cross-boundary partnerships. Many neighbouring and sub-

regional partners also look to the council for support on this agenda. The council’s 

Chief Executive chairs the Nottinghamshire Environmental Strategy Working Group 

of local authority partners. This group shares learning and identifies strategic 

collaborative opportunities to reach operational net zero – the state in which 

greenhouse gases going into the atmosphere are balanced by their removal out of 

the atmosphere - by 2030. The Leader of the Council, who is also the Cabinet 

Member for Transport and the Environment on Nottinghamshire County Council, 

influences the county’s agenda from Rushcliffe’s perspective. RBC is also the 

partnership lead for environmental issues within EMMCCA’s devolution programme.  

The council is using its environmental partnerships to successfully lever in additional 

funding to support delivery. RBC has successfully acquired funding through these 

means for its green retrofit programme, whereby the council is already exceeding its 

targets for this programme and is “chomping on the bit” to achieve more. The council 

has also launched the county’s Green Awards app for local residents, which RBC 

developed with local universities, the app’s creator Jump and the eight other councils 

in Nottinghamshire to influence behavioural change towards net zero. There may be 

opportunities for the council to commit and attract funding to enhance the app to 

further achieve RBC’s and its partners’ environmental goals. RBC is also awaiting the 

outcome of its submitted bid to the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme, having 

successfully bid for Salix funding in the past to reduce carbon emissions. The council 

should therefore make the most of these successes and work, its strong partnerships 

and its enhanced ambitions through the annual or mid-term, light-touch refresh of its 

corporate strategy to attract further funding to deliver its key priorities across the 

whole council. RBC receives relatively little external funding. The council should 

therefore maximise financial potential via these partnership routes. 

Through its already successful partnership work and influence, RBC should also 

ensure a clear commitment in the EMMCCA devolution deal to secure the scale of 

investment required to address the impact of transport as the main contributor to 

carbon dioxide. The council is developing a strategic growth narrative relating to 

climate change, again making the most of its existing knowledge and experience in 

this field, through its work with D2N2 - the Local Enterprise Partnership for Derby, 

Derbyshire, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. Skills delivery in particular provides 

page 33

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

24 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

opportunities for RBC and its partners to support the delivery of a green economy. 

These activities will not only make the most of RBC’s highly respected leadership 

and other roles, knowledge and experience with its partnerships but also ensure 

Rushcliffe’s residents and other stakeholders’ interests are best addressed through 

these wider agendas. The council should use its sizeable placemaking agenda to 

accelerate net zero delivery as part of its corporate priorities. RBC has already 

adopted supplementary planning policy and uses its own Abbey Road and other 

developments to promote good practice. The council should also consider partnering 

with developers to explore how together they could create sustainable heat networks 

– for which government capital grants funds are available - for new and existing 

communities. There may be further opportunities for RBC to consider an affordable 

housing programme and potential housing revenue account as part of all this.   

The council plays a proactive and positive role in a variety of environment related 

work within the borough of Rushcliffe itself. RBC manages and maintains its clean 

and tidy local environment through its committed Streetwise (street scene) and waste 

services with partners. The council brought Streetwise in-house, which appears to 

have been a positive move, enabling a rebalance of the delivery of service outcomes 

alongside income generation. It is additionally changing its vehicle fleet’s fuel from 

diesel to biofuels and is developing local area energy plans.     

The Environment Act 2021’s duties around biodiversity net gain (BNG) and 

conserving and enhancing biodiversity presents RBC with various positive options, 

which the council understands but should further acknowledge and progress 

corporately. This could be an area for potential investment - identifying additional 

land for carbon offsetting, as reception sites for BNG credits and so forth, when 

developers cannot provide increased biodiversity on their sites. This is harder for 

urban areas, where developers will pay for enhanced biodiversity to be provided 

elsewhere. RBC however, as a predominantly rural council, has a range of potential 

tree planting, agricultural land – including potentially good host sites – and other BNG 

receptor sites. It also has established relationships and specialist partners such as 

the Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust. It is therefore well placed to offer sites to provide 

new habitats for neighbouring council areas that may struggle in this regard. Where 

this is taken up, this could also provide additional long term funding.  

An increasing pressure is the need to continue and expand the current waste 

page 34

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

25 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

collection offer, which is constrained by the limited capacity and condition of the 

Eastcroft depot. This pressure will only increase as councils prepare for forthcoming 

statutory weekly food waste collections across Nottinghamshire from 2027, as RBC 

continues to change its vehicle fleet’s fuel from diesel to biofuels, and in light of the 

borough’s growing population. RBC has explored options and locations for new or 

additional depot capacity within the borough, with partners, to address these issues. 

It concluded that the Eastcroft depot is the best option for the next five to ten years, 

and is already sharing with the best located authority. RBC is nevertheless open to 

ideas, which is where promoting more what the council is doing with partners and 

what it is looking to achieve could inspire new thinking and opportunities. The council 

could also consider further education and engagement activity with its communities in 

the lead up to the introduction of food waste collection in March 2026, such as the 

FoodSavvy campaign, which could decrease such waste from the outset.  

All round, the council is undertaking a lot of environmental activity, has developed 

and is delivering against a climate change action plan through a corporate team, and 

there are many more options for RBC to explore and develop, not least through the 

Environment Act 2021. The council does though need to further articulate and 

promote this work, with the help of any emerging and aligned corporate project, 

performance and programme management function. This will clarify what RBC and 

its partners are individually and jointly doing and funding towards their own and 

partnership goals and priorities. Co-ordination of this sort could also measure, 

monitor and address performance of key deliverables. This would give the council a 

clear sense of what is making the most impact, which it can share and progress 

further with its partners, again making the most of those collective resources towards 

a joint, co-ordinated agenda.   

Another key co-ordination point is that communities and businesses do not appear to 

be clear how they can contribute to RBC’s climate change ambitions. Given that the 

actions of both cohorts are vital to this agenda and will impact on them as well, the 

council should look to clarify and promote what communities and businesses can do 

to contribute and incorporate those contributions into the co-ordination work 

suggested above. This would make those contributions clear, which the council could 

measure, monitor and enhance to further its environmental ambitions.  

Additionally, RBC is working with local universities through the Environmental 

page 35

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

26 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk   

Acting Chief Executive: Sarah Pickup CBE  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

 

Strategy Working Group, has a Big Business Carbon Club, and smaller businesses 

are engaged with community groups and the Green Rewards App  This work should 

also align with the council’s climate change action plan if it does not already, to 

develop a shared understanding of priority actions and how to progress them to 

address climate change and share best practice to benefit all. RBC has had an 

energy audit of its assets, which has informed its carbon reduction plan. It could 

additionally consider developing a co-ordinated plan with partners to enhance energy 

efficiency of all these assets together, possibly through the One Public Estate 

programme. This would again enable the sharing and learning from best practice.   

There is also more potential for RBC to use its development and growth agenda to 

reflect its ambition for environment and climate change. Once the council has 

developed and agreed its economic growth strategy for 2024/25, RBC could work 

more closely with its green businesses through that strategy to also support the 

council’s environmental goals. The council could also explore delivery models such 

as a housing company that allow it to showcase exemplar net zero homes that it 

builds. Additionally, with the environment being one of the council’s key priorities and 

can be addressed in many different ways, RBC should thoroughly explore each 

service area for related opportunities, and integrate these climate change ambitions 

within each service plan. These are just some examples of how RBC could take this 

whole priority agenda forward in its widest and most fulfilling sense.    

5. Next steps 

It is recognised that senior political and managerial leadership will want to consider, 

discuss and reflect on these findings.  

Both the peer team and LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through 

the CPC. The CPC process includes a progress review within twelve months of the 

CPC, which  provides space for the council’s senior leadership to update peers on its 

progress against the recommendations from this report. 

In the meantime, Mark Edgell, Principal Adviser for the East Midlands, is the main 

contact between your council and the LGA, and is available to discuss any further 

support your council requires via his email address at mark.edgell@local.gov.uk or 

via telephone on 07747 636910. 

page 36

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/one-public-estate
mailto:mark.edgell@local.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 RECOMMENDATION FROM PEER TEAM RESPONSE/ACTION FROM RBC 

1. Take a strategic/corporate approach to programme and 
project management, building on and aligning with your 
existing corporate performance management function. 

The Officer Leadership Team is reviewing the Council’s 
project management framework and will consider this 
recommendation in that process. This will include looking at 
restructuring existing staff so that a central team reports 
directly to the Chief Executive. 
 

2. Build up your future, annual or mid-term, light-touch 
corporate strategy refreshes from community level to best 
understand and respond to your communities’ needs and 
aspirations for the future.  

The Corporate Strategy will be reviewed annually by 
Corporate Overview Group. The first review is expected in 
July 2024.   
 
We will conduct an enhanced mid-term review (2025), with 
more comprehensive community engagement activities.  
 

3. Create further time, space, resource and capacity with your 
strategic partners to identify what could be needed in future 
regarding changes in the landscape that affect you and your 
communities, notably the East Midlands Mayoral County 
Combined Authority (EMMCCA), Development Corporation 
and Freeport.   

A joint Cabinet and Executive Management Team workshop 
will be held in summer 2024 to consider this in more detail.  
 
The Leader, Deputy Leader and Chief Executive will take 
active role in devolution meetings wherever possible. The 
Leader is Board Member of the Freeport.  
 

4. Use your respected position with all your partners to deliver 
further defined outcomes across the whole council – you are 
already using your environmental partnerships to lever in 
additional funding to support delivery... You should therefore 
maximise financial potential via these partnership routes. 

This directly links to the development of the Council’s 
Economic Growth Strategy, the development of which will be 
central to the Council making bids to any future external 
funding pots, mirroring the work done to enhance our profile 
and success with access to environment funding.  
 

5. Invest further in staff and councillor training; ensure 
councillors in particular take up mandatory, essential and 
other training, including that on councillor/officer roles, 

This is on-going work, overseen by Member Development 
Group and the Council’s Strategic HR Manager and Service 
Manager for Corporate Services.  

page 37



 

OFFICIAL 

political awareness, code of conduct and other internal 
processes. 

  

6. Further develop and align your capital programme with your 
economic growth strategy once you have agreed the latter 
for 2024/25, with clear outcomes for both.  

The Economic Growth Strategy is currently in development. 
It will need to be completed prior to any decisions being 
made about changes to the capital programme and aligned 
to the Council’s TFS (there may also be revenue 
implications) and other competing priorities. Many financial 
implications are already covered in the MTFS linked to 
Economic Growth such as the DevCo and Freeport Reserve. 
The Council will aim to use the strategy to lever in external 
funding wherever possible.  
 

7. Reduce the number of RBC values, eg to a maximum of five, 
working with your employee liaison group and trade unions. 
 

This work will be undertaken by the Council’s Employee 
Liaison Group. Consultation process with all staff to be 
included.  

8. Explore options through your climate change action plan to 
maximise delivery of environmental outcomes across your 
strategic development and growth sites. 

We are already working on our Design Code, our approach 
to Biodiversity Net Gains, a Supplementary Planning 
Document for Gamston and have promoted developments 
with additional environmental outcomes, such as the former 
depot site at Abbey Road which will include EPC A-rated 
properties.  We will continue to seek new opportunities as 
they arise. 
 

9. Integrate climate change ambitions in all your service areas. The Council’s Carbon Management Action Plan Part A has a 
range of actions from across the Council with champions 
identified from within specific teams/areas. Any actions or 
activities of scale are incorporated into Service Plans to 
ensure appropriate management and oversight.  
 
Overall progress is monitored and driven via a quarterly 
Carbon Management Action Plan meeting which is chaired 
by the Director Neighbourhoods and this brings together 

page 38



 

OFFICIAL 

managers from across the organisation to ensure that 
climate change remains a priority across all service areas.  
Updates on progress with Council’s plan are provided on an 
annual basis to the Communities Scrutiny Group and 
financial reporting on the climate change reserve takes place 
quarterly.  
 
Financial implications of climate change ambition have to be 
balanced along with other Council priorities and are already 
integrated with the Council’s MTFS. 

 

ADDITIONAL OBSERVATIONS: 

 OBSERVATION FROM PEER TEAM RESPONSE FROM RBC 

FINANCE  

1.  RBC could invest in renewable energy regeneration by way 
of financial investment, helping deliver its net zero agenda 
and substantially advance its other priorities. 

We are open-minded on this and open to exploring further, 
however experiences from Councils elsewhere (solar farms, 
energy companies etc) have shown this can be problematic 
as it does not reflect the core business of the Council. 
Furthermore and as with any use of resources any decisions 
will be based on a sound business case along with financial 
implications, understanding risks and rewards.  
 
A more relevant priority for the Council is its ongoing 
investment in solar PV, air source heat pumps and 
renewables to reduce its running costs. Due to the nature of 
our business, we are unlikely to produce a surplus to our 
running costs (5 swimming pools and a crematorium). All 
this work is greatly helping the Council to become carbon 
neutral in our own operations by 2030.  
 

page 39



 

OFFICIAL 

2.  RBC could build in regular constructive, supportive 
challenge of its income generation and financial plans, and 
commission an external, independent review of its assets 
and their future commercial potential 

We have a strategic task in our Corporate Strategy 2023-
2027 which sets out our intention to conduct a review of all 
of our assets.  The Council has the in-house expertise to 
conduct the reviews but will seek external expert advice 
when needed. 
 
We also take a report to Governance Group bi-annually 
which focuses on the Council’s commercial properties and 
the upside and downside risks surrounding these which 
takes into account professional advice from both property 
and financial services. A recent review has demonstrated 
income compares favourably to market values. 

3.  The Council should work with its councillors and officers now 
to test and develop their appetite to take on future debt if 
there is a strong business case to do so 

We are willing to borrow if necessary. Such decisions have 
to be properly reported through the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy and Cabinet or Full Council dependent on the level 
of risk supported by a business case.  
 

4.  The peer team heard and would advise against using 
revised budgets as standard practice.  

Feedback noted, our current practices work for RBC and we 
have no issues with budget monitoring with our stakeholders 
and a clean bill of health from both internal and external 
audit in this regard. 
 

Governance/Performance/Culture 

5.  RBC should continue monitoring and enhancing planning 
service and its resources to ensure it remains fit for purpose. 
This includes developing staff as needed to support delivery 
of RBC’s significant strategic sites including Ratcliffe-on-
Soar and facilitating joint working to address gaps in 
provision such as infrastructure. 

Agree. This is already happening. Recent examples include 
staff allocated to Ratcliffe on Soar LDO work and creation of 
Major Projects Officer role for Planning, an Agents’ Forum 
and Newsletters have been set up. A programme of work to 
review processes and continue the journey of improvement 
is in place. 
 

6.  The corporate performance management function should 
review, co-ordinate, remove, enhance and/or replace council 

Agree. This piece of work is underway.  KPIs are reviewed 
regularly. There have been no issues with performance 

page 40



 

OFFICIAL 

performance indicators as required, so remaining indicators 
align with RBC’s key priorities, related outcomes, and are fit 
for purpose. 

management in terms of any ‘surprises’ arising from the 
Council not looking at the right things or something not 
identified from the range of information available. 
 

7.  RBC should consider undertaking a comprehensive review 
of its scrutiny function, the role and number of overview and 
scrutiny groups, processes and procedures, aligned with 
progressing RBC’s corporate strategy, with councillor 
engagement at its core 

A comprehensive review of the Council’s Scrutiny function 
was undertaken by Centre for Governance and Scrutiny in 
2018. Suggest that training on current structures may be 
useful rather than a review.  
 
Scrutiny has improved in that a better, more diverse range of 
topics are now considered compared to previous regime. 
 

8.  RBC should strengthen the ‘golden thread’ to individual 
level. Following the council adopting its refreshed corporate 
strategy in December, individual appraisals are happening 
until the end of April, which should take account of the 
strategy and enhance its link to the individual level. 

Agree. The Corporate Strategy was adopted in December 
2023. This process will take place through staff appraisals in 
March/April 2024.  
 

9.  RBC should be clear which risks are to be managed at 
corporate and service levels, ensure corporate risks in 
particular are clearly identified, prioritised, strategic, fewer in 
number with robust mitigations, and then manage those 
risks – both at corporate and service levels 

Agree, but risks shouldn’t be limited by a fixed number. The 
main point is that risks are being identified and mitigated 
where we can. There is no evidence that any key risks have 
not been identified and our auditors are satisfied with our 
approach. As per point 6. This piece of work is underway. 
Risks are reviewed regularly.   
 

Environment 

10.  The council should also consider partnering with developers 
to explore how together they could create sustainable heat 
networks – for which government capital grants funds are 
available - for new and existing Communities. There may be 
further opportunities for RBC to consider an affordable 
housing programme and potential housing revenue account 
as part of all this 

There is currently no political appetite from leading group to 
pursue setting up an HRA.  
 
In 2022/23 we had an independent review to assess the 
viability of the Council developing an HRA and/or other 
housing delivery models. That review concluded that it 

page 41



 

OFFICIAL 

wasn’t advisable.  This was discussed by Scrutiny in October 
2023.  
 
Sustainable heat networks – could be considered as part of 
Gamston scheme. 
 

11.  Identify additional land for carbon offsetting, as reception 
sites for BNG credits and so forth, when developers cannot 
provide increased biodiversity on their sites. RBC however, 
as a predominantly rural council, has a range of potential 
tree planting, agricultural land.  
 

Agree. There is a report going to April Cabinet on developing 
a strategy for this area of work.  

12.  The council could also consider further education and 
engagement activity with its communities in the lead up to 
the introduction of food waste collection in March 2026, such 
as the Food Savvy campaign, which could decrease such 
waste from the outset. 
 

Agree.  This will be introduced in October 2027 for 
Nottinghamshire.  We are working as part of the Notts Joint 
Waste Mgt Committee and will consider education and 
engagement activity as part of this.  
 

13.  Clarify and promote what communities and businesses can 
do to contribute and incorporate those contributions into the 
co-ordination work suggested above [net zero agenda]. 

Agree. This is something we are working on and committed 
to. The Green Rewards App is a great example of this – 
educating residents and encouraging them to play their part 
in achieving net zero.  
 
The Big Business Carbon Club is also an example of this 
work. We also engage with SMEs (who make up the majority 
of the business community in Rushcliffe) on the green 
agenda via the Rushcliffe Business Partnership.   
 
The Council has taken the opportunity to use some of its 
allocation of UK Shared Prosperity Funding to commission 
low carbon business support via East Midlands Chamber. In 

page 42



 

OFFICIAL 

addition from April 2024 residents will be able to access 
green skills training.  
 

14.  Consider developing a co-ordinated plan with partners to 
enhance energy efficiency of all these assets together, 
possibly through the One Public Estate programme 

Agree, we are already engaged in the One Public Estate 
programme.  
 
We undertake joint procurement re energy efficiency 
wherever possible.  
 

15.  Once the council has developed and agreed its economic 
growth strategy for 2024/25, RBC could work more closely 
with its green businesses through that strategy to also 
support the council’s environmental goals. 
 

 
Agree, sustainability will be a key element of the economic 
growth strategy.   
 

16.  The council could explore delivery models such as a 
housing company that allow it to showcase exemplar net 
zero homes that it builds. 

It hasn’t yet been a priority as business case hasn’t looked 
favourable. Abbey Road development (former RBC depot 
site) has been developed as net zero homes (EPC rating A) 
and we will showcase this when completed.  
 

Communications/Engagement/Vision 

17.  With so many high-profile sites, it is important the council 
develops a clear narrative about its role in supporting good 
place making as developments come forward. 

Agree, we have set up community growth and development 
boards for key sites which are central to developing a clear 
narrative about our role and the role of partners.  
 

18.  The council provides a range of good support to, and 
engages strongly with, its parish and town councils - RBC 
could usefully develop a public strategy or master framework 
that brings and presents all this work together. This would 
enable the council to monitor and co-ordinate this work in 
the round to make it even more effective.  
 

Agree. Not sure a separate strategy is necessary, we have a 
‘partnership with the parishes’ document which could be 
refreshed.  As part of new community and development 
boards, there will be a regular schedule of meetings with the 
main Town and Parish Councils.  

page 43



 

OFFICIAL 

19.  The council could also make the most of funding across 
council and sub-regional priorities, for example by 
developing and delivering with partners a shared vision for 
growth and combining work and deliverables around new 
and related housing, skills and environmental agendas. 
 

Agree.  We work across the sub-region and housing market 
area on these priorities. These are picked up through the 
Greater Nottingham Strategic Plan, the devolution work and 
will be included in the Economic Growth Strategy.  
  

20.  RBC does not have an engagement strategy but having one 
would help the council understand and address its 
communities’ immediate and future needs and aspirations. It 
would also enable more residents to provide feedback and 
inform council and sub-regional approaches and get 
involved in council activities. An engagement strategy could 
also inform and contribute to the council’s annual or mid-
term, light-touch corporate strategy refreshes from the 
community level. 
 

Agree. We will look at including engagement in the next 
iteration of our Communication Strategy.   

 

 

 

  

page 44



 

  

 

 

 

 
Cabinet 
 
Tuesday, 9 April 2024 

 
Bingham Car Parking Project Update  
 
 

 
Report of the Director – Neighbourhoods  
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety, Councillor R Inglis 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1. The Bingham Car Parking Strategy Group was established following a report to 

Cabinet in September 2023, regarding car parking in Bingham. This report 
provides an update on the work that this Group has undertaken over the last 
six months.  
 

1.2. The report also presents proposals for changes to Bingham’s current car 
parking offer, designed to improve parking in Bingham, encouraging short stay 
rather than all day parking in the town centre in line with the Council’s Off-Street 
Car Parking Strategy.  

 
2. Recommendation 
 

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 

a) recognises the work carried out by the Bingham Car Parking Strategy 
Group; 
 

b) approves reducing the length of stay in the Council’s parking bays in 
Bingham Marketplace to 30 minutes as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the 
report; 

 
c) approves changing restrictions on market days to allow spaces to be 

made available to the public when they are not in use by market traders, 
as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report; 

 
d) approves changes to Newgate and Needham Street Car Parks to 

introduce charging for parking after 1 hour, as set out in paragraph 4.9 
of the report; and 

 
e) approves establishing a permit scheme at Bingham Arena, creating circa 

30 spaces for long stay, to be made available for a fee to town centre 
businesses, as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report; and 

 

page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

  

 

f) supports the proposal for Nottinghamshire County Council to reduce the 
length of stay in their parking bays in Bingham Marketplace to 30 
minutes, as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report. 

  
3. Reasons for Recommendation 
 

The Council has worked in partnership with Bingham Town Council and 
Nottinghamshire County Council to first understand parking in the town centre 
and then to explore options for possible improvements where challenges have 
been identified. The proposals outlined in paragraph 4.9 are based on the 
analysis of independently gathered data and support the policy objectives of 
the Council’s Off-Street Parking Strategy to: 
 

• Manage parking in order to maintain the vitality and viability of district and 
town centres by ensuring the needs of shoppers and visitors are prioritised. 

• Manage parking provision to ensure that it encourages short stay rather 
than all-day parking.  

 
4. Supporting Information 
 

Bingham Car Parking Strategy Group 
 

4.1. The Car Parking Strategy Group has been active since October 2023, with four 
meetings held. The Group includes members from Bingham Town Council, 
Nottinghamshire County Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council.  

 
4.2. The Group’s initial focus was gathering accurate and relevant data to better 

understand the situation regarding parking in Bingham. Once this data was 
collected and analysed, the Group considered changes, which Rushcliffe 
Borough Council and Nottinghamshire County Council could make to improve 
parking in Bingham, freeing up spaces in the centre for short stay users such 
as shoppers and health centre visitors.  
 
Data Collection 
  

4.3. Bingham Town Council, Nottinghamshire County Council and Rushcliffe 
Borough Council jointly commissioned an external traffic data collection 
company to conduct in person surveys on Wednesday 8, Thursday 9 and 
Saturday 11 November 2023.  
 

4.4. Key findings from the surveys are as follows: 
 

Car Park  Key Findings  

Bingham Arena - 205 spaces  
 
0-3 hours free 
>3 hours £25 
 

Approximately 66% occupancy at 
peak times. 

page 46



 

  

 

Needham Street - 40 Spaces 
 
Pay & Display 
0-2 hours free 
>2 hours £20 

• 81% stay for less than 1 hour. 

• 17% stay for 1-2 hours. 

• 2% stay for more than 2 hours.  
 
 
 

Newgate Street - 108 spaces  
 
12 hours free  

• 67% stay for less than 1 hour. 

• 24% stay for 1-2 hours. 

• 9% stay for 2-4 hours. 

• 1% stay for more than 4 hours.  
 

 
4.5. Key findings from the car park user questionnaire are as follows: 

 

• Most popular purpose for using the car parks is shopping. 

• Park and ride represent a low proportion of users (~5% on weekdays). 

• Approximately 94% of users (across all surveyed days) indicated that the 
car park was the first location visited to park.  

• 29% of car park users travelled from within Bingham.  
 
4.6. In addition to commissioning on-site surveys the Council conducted an online 

survey, which was well publicised on social media and via press releases. The 
survey received over 1,500 responses. This survey also reported that the 
majority of those parking in Bingham are shoppers (57%), the majority reporting 
that they stay for less than two hours (78%). 68% of respondents suggested 
that they often struggle to find a parking space in Bingham. This latter finding 
contradicts the data collected on site and suggests that there is clearly a 
perception of lack of capacity in car parks, whether or not this is the reality. To 
further support the data collected conversations have also been held with key 
stakeholders such as the Health Centre and Inspire to understands their current 
usage of local parking facilities.  
 
Proposed Package of Changes  

 
4.7. While the data suggests that parking spaces are generally available in the main 

car parks, they are clearly busy and often near capacity, particularly Newgate 
Street Car Park. In addition, there is clearly a public perception that parking is 
an issue in Bingham and needs to be addressed.  
 

4.8. The Council has considered this in the context of the data collected but also 
taking a wider holistic approach including reference to the Council’s Off-Street 
Parking Strategy, particularly the policy objectives to: 
 

• Manage parking in order to maintain the vitality and viability of district and 
town centres by ensuring the needs of shoppers and visitors are prioritised. 

• Manage parking provision to ensure that it encourages short stay rather than 
all-day parking.  

 

page 47



 

  

 

4.9. The following proposals are intended to maximise short stay parking 
opportunities in the town centre, and ensure sufficient funds are generated to 
cover the costs of the proposed changes and generate income for the ongoing 
maintenance of the car parks:  

 

Proposal  Summary of Change  Comments 

A. Rushcliffe 
Borough Council 
(RBC) 
Marketplace 
bays (20 spaces) 
– reduce length 
of stay. 

 
See Appendix A  

• Change to 30 min max 
stay (reduction from 2 
hours)  

• Change restrictions on 
Market days to allow 
spaces to be made 
available when they 
are not in use by 
market traders.  

Members of the public 
do not discern between 
which bays are RBC 
and NCC. It is 
therefore essential to 
make changes to RBC 
and NCC bays at the 
same time to avoid any 
confusion.  
 

B. Nottinghamshire 
County Council 
(NCC) 
Marketplace on-
street bays – 
reduce length of 
stay. 

 
See Appendix A  

• Change to 30 min max 
stay (reduction from 2 
hours).  

 

Members of the public 
do not discern between 
which bays are RBC 
and NCC. It is 
therefore essential to 
make changes to RBC 
and NCC bays at the 
same time to avoid any 
confusion. 
 

C. Newgate Street 
– change to 
short stay.  

 
See Appendix A  
 

106 spaces – currently 12 
hours free (no return 
within 3 hours)  
 
Up to 1 hours = free 
1-3 hours = £1 
3-4 hours = £5 
4-12 hours = £10  
 
See 4.10  
 

 

D. Needham Street 
– change to 
longer stay. 

 
See Appendix A 

40 spaces – currently 2 
hours free (£20 for up to 
12 hours)  
 
Up to 1 hours = free 
1-3 hours = £1 
3-4 hours = £5 
4-12 hours = £10  
 
See 4.10 
 

 

page 48



 

  

 

E. Long stay 
permits at 
Bingham Arena 

Create circa 30 spaces for 
long stay, to be made 
available for a fee to town 
centre businesses. This is 
likely to between £200 
and £300 and compares 
favourably with, for 
example Nottingham City 
Council business car 
parking charges. 
 

 

F. Traffic 
Regulation 
Orders (TROs) 
on central 
residential 
streets – 
Nottinghamshire 
County Council 
function.  

Subject to respective 
approvals for the options 
A – E which are expected 
to take circa 6-months.  
 
Once these changes have 
been made, Officers at 
NCC (who are responsible 
for on-street parking) will 
review the impact and 
consider whether TROs 
might be required on 
central residential streets. 
These could potentially 
consist of resident permits 
and time restrictions.  

These actions have 
been considered in 
parallel to the changes 
being proposed (A to 
E), however no 
decisions will be made 
by NCC until the 
impact of the changes 
can be properly 
assessed.  
 
This is an NCC decision 
to be taken at a future 
date and will be subject 
to due process, 
including public and 
Councillor consultation.  

 
4.10. Annual income projections for proposed changes to Newgate Street and 

Needham Street car parks are presented below. The figures presented are 
cumulative and excluding VAT. These figures do not include income for 4-12 
hours (£10), as current data suggests that take up of this option would be 
limited. The figures below can only be an estimate, as we cannot accurately 
predict the precise behaviour change these new charges will prompt.  
 

 Up to 1hr Up to 2hrs Up to 3hrs Up to 4hrs 

Income projection 
(higher scenario) 

£0 £87,516 £108,583 £141,633 

Income projection 
(lower scenario) 

£0 £66,453 £82,825 £113,645 

 
4.11. As stated in paragraph 4.9, the proposals are intended to prompt behaviour 

change, freeing up capacity for short stay parking in the town. However, the 
changes must also seek to cover associated costs, both in the short term and 
longer term. The following is an estimate of the associated costs: 
 

Additional annual revenue expenditure £16,000 

Additional capital expenditure   £42,000 

page 49



 

  

 

Cost of resurfacing (this will not be required as a direct 
result of these changes, but will be required in the next 
few years, so is an important cost to consider when 
thinking about the future of the car parks)  

£90,000 

Total  £148,000 

 
4.12. The existing costs associated with Newgate St and Needham St amount to 

£42,000. Therefore the overall revenue costs are £58,000. Capital expenditure 
of £42,000 will need funding immediately, with a further £90,000 of capital costs 
expected in the future.  
 

Implementation  
 
4.13. The Council will create a notice to vary the existing parking orders for the 

Marketplace and Newgate and Needham Street car parks. Nottinghamshire 
County Council will need to follow their own process for varying the parking 
order for their Marketplace parking bays. For both councils, this is a multi-stage 
process which will include an advertisement period where the changes will be 
published and open to objections. It is expected that this process will take up to 
6-months. It is hoped that changes will be implemented by October 2024.  
 

4.14. The Council will conduct comprehensive communications activity in the run up 
to any changes, with changes to length of stay and charges clearly signed on-
site.   
 

4.15. The Council will be able to monitor the impact of the changes in Newgate and 
Needham Street car parks through ticket sales via the pay and display 
machines. However, it is important to give the changes the appropriate length 
of time to establish and to allow people to adjust to the change, therefore a 
more comprehensive exercise to assess the impact of the changes will be 
conducted circa 12 months after the implementation. This may result in 
Nottinghamshire County Council seeking to introduce Traffic Regulation Orders 
if significant displacement to on-street parking is evidenced. See paragraph 4.9, 
proposal F.  

 
5. Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection. 

 
5.1. The Council could choose to make no changes to the parking offer in Bingham. 

The data collection exercise demonstrated that, while busy, people are 
generally able to park in the car parks. However, this is clearly not the 
perception of many of those who are using the car parks. The car parks are 
clearly busy and the Council believes, based on the data and the advice of 
independent experts, that the changes proposed can go some way to freeing 
up capacity for short stay, in line with our objectives set out in our Off-Street 
Parking Strategy.  

 
5.2. The Council considered a number of different tariffs and charging structures for 

Newgate and Needham Street Car Parks. These were considered with the Car 
Parking Strategy Group.  
 

page 50



 

  

 

Option Fees Approximate 
annual income  

1 0-2hrs = £0 
2-3hrs =£3 
3-4hrs = £4 
4-12hrs = £10 

£89,641 (higher) 
£73,771 (lower) 

2 0-30mins = £0 
30mins-2hrs =£1 
2-3hrs = £2 
3-12hrs = £10 

-£251,247 (higher) 
£187,851 (lower) 

3 0-1hr = £0 
1-2hrs = £1 
2-3hrs = £2 
3-4hrs = £3 
4-12hrs = £10 

 £149,480 (higher) 
£117,688 (lower) 

4 0-2hrs = £0 
2-3hrs = £1 
3-4hrs = £5 
4-12hrs = £10 

£54,117 (higher) 
£47,191 (lower) 

5 
Preferred 
option 

Up to 1 hours = £0 
1-3 hours = £1 
3-4 hours = £5 
4-12 hours = £10  

£141,633 (higher) 
£113,645 (lower) 

 
5.3. Options 1-4 were considered and rejected given concerns over the impact such 

charging could have with greater on-street car parking displacement into 
neighbouring streets and that a more aggressive pricing strategy could 
adversely impact economic growth in the town. 

 
5.4. The Bingham Car Parking Strategy Group unanimously support the proposal to 

charge for parking in these two car parks and the proposed changes to the 
Marketplace bays. The Group did not reach consensus on the exact charging 
structure to be set for the two car parks, with some supportive of the proposal 
put forward above (option 5) and some supportive of an alternative tariff (option 
4). The views of the group have been considered, with option 5 resulting as the 
one which best meets the objectives as set out in 5.3 and the Council’s own Off 
Street Car Parking Strategy.  

 
6. Risks and Uncertainties  
 
6.1. There is a risk that these changes could result in an increase in on-street 

parking. This could result in difficulty parking for residents of those streets. The 
Council is already working closely with Nottinghamshire County Council to 
consider possible measures to mitigate this e.g. Traffic Regulation Order (see 
paragraph 4.9 proposal F).  

 
6.2. There is a risk that the changes to Newgate and Needham Street car parks will 

result in a reduction in long stay parking options in Bingham, particularly for 
workers. As set out in 4.9, proposal E, the Council is proposing to develop a 

page 51



 

  

 

long stay offer at Bingham Arena. The Council is already in touch with key 
stakeholders in Bingham, including the GP surgery, to work with them to 
potentially mitigate the impact of these proposed changes on their employees. 
The Council is also working with Nottinghamshire County Council to promote 
active travel e.g. cycling and walking, into Bingham, as it is clear that a large 
number of those parking in Bingham, live in Bingham.  
 

7. Implications  
 

7.1. Financial Implications 
 
As outlined above in paragraph 4.11, there are additional costs associated with 
the changes proposed and ongoing cost relating to running and maintaining the 
car parks that the fee structure proposed should seek to cover. Undoubtedly 
more income could be raised with further tariffs between 1-3 hours (e.g. Option 
2 in the Table at paragraph 5.2) and this may increase car parking churn given 
that survey evidence demonstrated over 90% of users stay for up to 2 hours. 
That said, both this and the need to cover costs is being balanced with the 
objective to still encourage demand and economic vitality.  

 
7.2.  Legal Implications 

 
There are two pieces of relevant legislation associated with the proposed 
changes: Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 - Part I and Part IV of Schedule 9 
of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders 
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 (SI 1196/2489) Material 
Change. Officers will follow due process in implementing changes which will 
involve making a new Off-Street Parking Places Order.  

 
7.3.  Equalities Implications 

 
There are no equalities implications associated with this report and it is 
important to state that disability parking arrangements will remain unchanged.  
 

7.4.  Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications 
 

There are no crime and disorder implications of this report. 
 

7.5. Biodiversity Net Gain Implications 
 

There are no biodiversity net gain implications associated with this report.  
 
8. Link to Corporate Priorities   
  

The Environment The Council is working to promote active travel, so that those 
that can travel to Bingham on foot/by bike, reducing carbon 
emission associated with driving.  

Quality of Life Working to improve parking will ensure that residents of 
Bingham and the surrounding areas can access support and 

page 52



 

  

 

facilities in the town as well as utilising and supporting local 
businesses.   

Efficient Services The revenue return from the changes proposed will ensure 
that costs for the implementation are covered and that future 
maintenance costs are also covered.  

Sustainable 
Growth 

Working to address parking challenges is intended to ensure 
that Bingham has the necessary infrastructure to continue to 
have a thriving and vibrant town centre, as the area continues 
to grow over the coming years. 

 
9.  Recommendation 
 
 It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 

a) recognises the work carried out by Bingham Car Parking Strategy 
Group; 

 
b) approves reducing the length of stay in the Council’s parking bays in 

Bingham Marketplace to 30 minutes as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the 
report; 

 
c) approves changing restrictions on market days to allow spaces to be 

made available to the public when they are not in use by market traders, 
as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report; 

 
d) approves changes to Newgate and Needham Street Car Parks to 

introduce charging for parking after 1 hour, as set out in paragraph 4.9 
of the report; and 

 
e) approves establishing a permit scheme at Bingham Arena, creating circa 

30 spaces for long stay, to be made available for a fee to town centre 
businesses, as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report; and 

 
f) supports the proposal for Nottinghamshire County Council to reduce the 

length of stay in their parking bays in Bingham Marketplace to 30 
minutes, as set out in paragraph 4.9 of the report. 
 

For more information contact: 
 

Dave Banks 
Director Neighbourhoods 
0115 914 8438 
dbanks@rushcliffe.gov.uk   
 

Background papers available for 
Inspection: 

• Report to Cabinet 12 September 2023 Update 
on Car Parking in Bingham. 

• Rushcliffe Off-Street Car Parking Strategy 
2023-2027. 

 

List of appendices: Appendix A – Overview of parking locations in 
Bingham 

 

page 53

mailto:dbanks@rushcliffe.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix A – Parking in Bingham (indicative locations) 

 

RBC 

RBC 
RBC 

NCC 

NCC

C 

NCC

C 

NCC

C Newgate 

Street Car 

Park 

Newgate 

Street 

Car Park 
N

e
e

d
h

am
 S

tr
e

e
t 

C
ar

 P
ar

k 

N
e

e
d

h
am

 S
tr

e
e

t 

C
ar

 P
ar

k 

page 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 March 2024
	6 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge
	Enc. 1 for LGA Corporate Peer Challenge
	Enc. 2 for LGA Corporate Peer Challenge

	7 Bingham Car Parking Project Update
	Enc. 1 for Bingham Car Parking


